FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/26/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/26/2022 1:03 PM

Supreme Court No	101403-1
Court of Appeal Cause	e No. 82788-0-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## ANDREW HAMBLIN,

Respondent,

v.

# NATIONAL GENERAL INSURANCE COMPANY and INTEGON PREFERRED INSURANCE COMPANY,

	Appellants,	
P	ETITION FOR REVIEW	

# WATHEN | LEID | HALL | RIDER, PC

Rick J Wathen, WSBA #25539
William L. Weber III, WSBA #28867
Attorneys for Appellants National General Insurance and
Integon Preferred Insurance Company
222 Etruria Street
Seattle, WA 98109
Telephone: (206) 622.0494

I.	IDENTIFY OF PETITIONER1

#### I. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY

National General Insurance Company and Integon Preferred Insurance Company, defendants in the trial court and the appellants in the Court of Appeals, ask this Court to grant the petition for review of the Court of Appeals decision identified in part II.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its decision on September 26, 2022. (A copy of the published opinion is attached as Appendix A.)

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The Court of Appeals decision affirming admission of the police report into evidence conflicts with this Court's prior decisions and RCW 46.52.080. Review is warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).
- 2. The Court of Appeals decision affirming admission of the police report is an issue of substantial public interest because police reports are routinely excluded in practice by trial courts relying on RCW 46.52.080. Review is warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- 3. The Court of Appeals decision awarding *Olympic Steamship* fees in the absence of a coverage dispute conflicts with multiple prior decisions of this Court.

Review is warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Overview

On February 6, 2016, an intoxicated Castillo-Garcia approached an intersection and grazed the rear bumper of a vehicle operated by Karen Sumner that was in the left turn lane. CP 630. Mr. Castillo-Garcia's vehicle continued unabated several feet into the intersection striking Andrew Hamblin's Castillo-Garcia was insured by National vehicle. Mr. General/Integon (herein after "Integon") with a single combined limit \$100k policy. CP 2 (trial Exh). Ms. Sumner incurred minimal damages and settled her claim for \$693. CP 547. That left \$99,307 available within the combined limit of the policy to indemnify Castillo-Garcia. Integon accepted coverage, defended without reservations, and paid the policy limit before suit was filed in this matter.

Eventually, Hamblin made a policy limits demand to Mr. Castillo-Garcia's carrier. TR Exh pg-2 -336. Hamblin entered

into a covenant judgment with Castillo-Garcia wherein in exchange for an assignment of bad faith rights, he would agree to not collect on the judgment. CP 204-216. The settlement terms also stated that Castillo-Garcia would be compensated a percentage of the settlement (later held to be unenforceable as against public policy in the first appeal).

Nevertheless, the trial court approved a \$1.5 million settlement in a reasonableness hearing. At trial in this matter, Integon was not permitted to point out to the jury that a finding of bad faith necessarily meant an award of 1.5 million in damages RP 199-205.

Hamblin brought bad faith, negligent claims handling, breach of contract, IFCA, and CPA claims against Integon. through the assignment. CP 251. The jury found that Integon acted in bad faith (though they were not permitted to decide proximate cause or determine or if Integon had rebutted the presumption of harm) and found breach of contract with damages in the amount of \$3,027. The jury did not find any damages

associated with negligent claims handling, IFCA or CPA. CP 1725-1726, Special Verdict Form. Appendix B.

Post-trial, the trial court awarded attorney fees to Hamblin that total nearly \$500k plus \$35k in costs. CP 1696-1699. The trial court's order is silent as to the basis of the award. Attached as Appendix C is the court's order. Other then not awarding a Lodestar multiplier, the trial court awarded everything requested by counsel.

# B. Integon Fully Defended Without a Reservation of Rights.

At all times, Integon provided Castillo-Garcia with a full defense and without a reservation of rights. CP 176. Mr. Castillo-Garcia was insured by Integon through a \$100k single limit policy. CP 264. Mr. Castillo-Garcia failed to report Hamblin's claim to Integon. Instead, Integon learned of Hamblin's claim when it received a policy limits demand on November 4, 2016. TR exh 18. Following this notification, Integon made efforts to contact Mr. Castillo-Garcia, but Mr. Castillo-Garcia did not respond. CP 815. Mr. Castillo-Garcia made no effort to

communicate with Integon until after suit was filed against Mr. Castillo-Garcia on December 12, 2016.

Despite Mr. Castillo Garcia's non-responsiveness, Integon made best efforts to work with Plaintiff Hamblin to settle the claim. Integon extended a settlement offer to Plaintiff Hamblin on December 5, 2016, but it was rejected. CP 621.

## C. Hamblin Files Suit Against Tortfeasor

Hamblin filed suit against Mr. Castillo-Garcia on December 12, 2016. CP 86. Instead of working with his insurance company to defend against the claims, Mr. Castillo - Garcia entered into negotiations with Hamblin and agreed to assign any bad faith claims Castillo-Garcia might have against Integon to Hamblin. Hamblin and Castillo-Garcia then entered into a settlement on September 25, 2017 for an agreed amount well in excess of Mr. Hamblin's damages: \$1.5 million. CP 204-216.

# D. Hamblin Files Suit Against Integon

Plaintiff Hamblin filed suit against Integon on April 2, 2018. CP 251-262. Hamblin's Complaint asserted the causes of

action of Negligence, Breach of Contract, Violation of the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), Breach of Duty of Good Faith and Violation of the Insurance Fair Conduct Act (IFCA). CP 257-259.

Integon brought two pretrial motions in limine barring Hamblin admitting the police report in as evidence. CP 1019-1026, MILs. The trial court admitted into evidence a redacted (reference to intoxication redacted) version police report in. CP 981-982 TR EXH 3 order on the MILs.

# E. Police Report as Evidence

The Castillo Garcia policy was a \$100k single limit policy. TR EXH pg. 1. Meaning, the policy had limits of \$100k per accident, regardless of the number of claims arising from that accident. Here, the accident involved Mr. Castillo Garcia entering the intersection ricocheting off Ms. Sumner's vehicle and then into the Hamblin vehicle: one accident. CP 869-872, police report. Castillo Garcia reported to Integon he fell asleep and rear-ended Sumner and pushed her into Hamblin. CP 460,

diary note. Castillo Garcia did not testify at trial. In fact, there were no witnesses, lay or expert, that discussed any aspect of the dynamics of the accident. Based on the police report the trial court allowed Hamblin to argue there were two accidents which improperly opened the door to the jury to conclude there was bad faith conduct by Integon.

The police report uses the singular "the collision" to describe the occurrence. "The cause of *the collision* was the impairment of D-1". CP 630-633 No evidence was offered that Castillo Garcia regained control after the Sumner impact or that he otherwise took some action to back up and pull around the Sumner vehicle, or that he was fleeing the scene creating a separate proximate cause before the Hamblin impact.

Rob Dietz was Hamblin's bad faith expert. He is not an accident reconstructionist and made no attempt to ever reconstruct the accident. RP 1186-87. Nevertheless, he was permitted to testify to the jury that he believed there was bad faith conduct by the Integon adjuster for failing to investigate the

accident as two auto accidents despite his not even understanding the basic facts of the accident. RP 1184-85. He offered no testimony as how Integon's investigation should have been different or that it likely would have resulted in a different decision.

Throughout trial and specifically during closing argument attorney Kinstler referred a number of times to there being two accidents and therefore bad faith conduct by Integon for offering \$99,374 of the remaining \$100k policy. "We all know what happened. This comes from the police report." RP 1741. "Mr. Castillo Garcia hit the back of the Sumner vehicle. He went to the left. He accelerated, went into the intersection and blasted Andrew Hamblin broadside in the intersection. That's two accidents." RP 1742. "...even if they occurred closely related in time." RP 1761. "We know from the [police report] diagram he [Castillo Garcia] then went around her [Karen Sumner] to the left. He then accelerated towards the intersection, ran the red light, and broadsided the Hamblin vehicle. That's two \$100,000

limits. So, I know it's only \$600. But still, National [Integon], this is pattern and practice." RP 1761-1762

The jury was not allowed to determine whether Integon's conduct proximately caused any damage to Castillo-Garcia. CP 1725-1726.

#### F. Verdict

This case proceeded to trial on Monday, March 29, 2021. The jury found the tort of breach of good faith. The jury was not permitted to deliberate proximate cause of damages or the effect of the settlement amount. The jury found a breach of contract in the amount of \$3,027.00 (This amount is coincidentally the amount of premiums charged to by Mr. Castillo-Garcia as stated in the declaration pages. Hamblin didn't argue this was the measure of damages.). The jury found no damages for IFCA, CPA, or negligence. CP 1725-1726.

# **G.** Attorney Fees and Costs

Hamblin, in his request for fees, stated that he was entitled to fees under *Olympic Steamship v Centennial Ins. Co. 117* Wn.2d 37, 811 P.2d 673 (1991). 1272-1274,1425. Hamblin only

prevailed on the common tort of bad faith and a simple breach of contract claim for \$3,027. Appx C. He did not prevail on CPA or IFCA claims. *Id*. The court awarded \$472,915.50 in attorney fees to Hamblin and Castillo Garcia. CP 1696-1699. The order does not segregate fees awarded between Hamblin and Castillo Garcia's counsel. *Id*.

In addition, the court awarded all the costs requested by Hamblin order despite Hamblin citing to any authority, without providing any invoices in support or the amounts were ever paid 1422-1431. CP 1534-1536 motion. Hamblin sought \$35,523.29 in costs. The trial court awarded \$35,635.56. CP 1696-1699

Beecher, Castillo-Garcia's private counsel, sought compensation for time spent crafting a settlement agreement that was deemed against public policy. CP 1337-1350. The trial court awarded this time and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

The trial court awarded \$472,915.50 in attorney fees on June 14, 2021 even though the plaintiff only prevailed on claims of the tort of breach of good faith and breach of contract. CP

1696-1699 The court never ruled that there was a denial of coverage or that this lawsuit was necessary to obtain the benefits of the policy. *Id*.

The Trial Court also awarded costs of \$35,635.56 but failed to articulate what costs were being awarded or why. CP 1696-1699. Plaintiff never submitted any invoices or receipts for any costs. CP 1534-1536. Several of the costs requested were awarded without authority. CP 1696-1699.

### V. ARGUMENT

A. The Admission of the Police Report into Evidence Conflicts with this Court's Prior Rulings and the Statute.

RCW 46.52.080 reads in part:

No such accident report or copy thereof shall be used as evidence in any trial, civil or criminal, arising out of an accident.

In this case, the trial court admitted into evidence the police report and the Court of Appeals affirmed. This Court has ruled on *discoverablility* of a police report but has not yet squarely ruled on the *admissablility* of a police report. There are

two cases in which this Court did address the scope of RCW 46.52.080. In each of those decisions, this Court recognized the statute's prohibition against a police report being used as evidence. A closer review of the cases indicates that the issue resolved only dealt with *discoverability* under various Public Disclosure Request statutes and not the issue of *admissibility* at trial as plainly set forth by the legislature.

For example, *Guillen v. Pierce County*, 144 Wn. 2d 696, 31 P.3d 28 (2001) addressed the issue of whether a governmental agency was required to produce accident reports and other statistical data gathered for specific intersections. *Id.* at 632. The Washington Supreme Court never approved the admissibility of these reports at trial.

However, this Court did specifically limit its holding to discoverability while recognizing the reports are not admissible at trial: "[W]hile RCW 46.52.080 exempts accident reports prepared by persons involved in accidents from public disclosure *or admission as evidence in certain trials*, we hold they remain

discoverable." *Id.* at 633. [emphasis added] The entire decision in *Guillen* related to discoverability, not admissibility at trial. This Court clearly acknowledged that distinction when it stated: "[B]ut the very fact that this statute *expressly bars admission of these reports at trial* without also barring their pretrial discovery is a strong indication that such reports are not "privileged" in the sense of being exempt from CR 26(b)(1)." *Id.* at 640. [emphasis added]

In the lower court, Respondent relied upon *Gendler v. Batiste*, 174 Wn.2d 244, 274 P.3d 346 (2012). *Gendler* again involved production of other accident reports pursuant to a Public Records Act disclosure request. *Id.* at 246. Just like *Guillen, supra*. The *Gendler* court addressed disclosure/discoverability and did not address admissibility at the trial.

Respondent also relied upon *Rice v. Offshore Sys., Inc.* 167 Wn.App. 77, 272 P.3d 865 (2012) in an attempt to defeat the plain language of the statute. The *Rice* court upheld introduction

of the police reports related to the police response to a fire and not an automobile accident. *Id.* at 83. The *Rice* court recognized: "As *Rice* claims RCW 46.52.080 bars the police reports' admission. This provision expressly applies only to vehicle accidents—" *Id.* at 870-871. The reports at issue in *Rice* were not vehicle accident reports, but rather, response reports to a fire, and as such, the statute didn't apply.

It is worth noting that in each of the cases the court recognized the statute's prohibition of admissibility at trial.

This issue is also of substantial public importance. As this Court is aware, the vast majority of traffic accident litigation involves a police report generated as some point. In practice, routinely, trial court's exclude introduction of police reports based upon the plain language of RCW 46.52.080. See Appendix D. Appendix D is a list of orders whereby trial courts routinely exclude police reports. The court of appeals decision creates confusion among litigants for the practical application of the statute. This is an issue of substantial public interest in that

litigants and the lower courts need certainty as to the application of RCW 46.52.080.

The purpose behind RCW 46.52.060 and the hearsay rules of evidence, indicate that police reports should not be admissible as evidence for civil trials. Responding police officers rarely witness the accident itself and, as in this case, are not qualified accident reconstruction experts. This case illustrates the harm caused by disregarding the statute and hearsay problems with introducing the police report into evidence. Following admission, the trial court instructed the jury:

The police report contains hearsay, which means that neither the police officer who made the report or persons who gave statements to the officer are making their statements in the courtroom. Hearsay evidence often is not admissible. In this case, however, the report is admissible not to establish the truth of matters asserted in the report, but to show that Defendant National General received the report, when it was received, and to inform actions Plaintiff contends Defendant did or did not take based on information the report contains. RP 550.

The police report provided none of this information. The police report didn't show that National General received the

report or when, and it didn't provide any information about what National General did or did not take. Instead, all along, the police report was being used to argue that two accidents occurred when in fact there was only one.

This Court should accept discretionary review to resolve the application of RCW 46.52.060. Integon believes the court of appeals decision is contrary to this Court's earlier acknowledgements and also that it is an issue of substantial public interest for all litigants.

# B. The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with Multiple Washington Supreme Court Decisions, Including *Olympic Steamship* and its Progeny.

In the absence of a statutory or contractual provision, the only basis for an award of attorney fees is pursuant to the equitable doctrine articulated by this court in *Olympic Steamship* v *Centennial Ins. Co.*, 117 Wn.2d 37, 811 P.2d 673 (1991). *Olympic Steamship* holds that an attorney fee award is required if an "insurer compels the insured to assume the burden of legal action, to obtain the full benefit of his insurance contract." *Id.* at

53. This Court has made it clear that in order to qualify for an award of attorney fees pursuant to *Olympic Steamship*, there must be an underlying coverage dispute. In this case, there was no coverage dispute, there was no failure of the duty to defend and Integon had paid the full policy limits before this lawsuit was filed. The trial court awarded fees and that decision was upheld by the Court of Appeals. In doing so, the Court of Appeals decisions is in direct conflict with several Washington Supreme Court decisions.

In the absence of a coverage dispute or duty to defend, Washington law does not allow an award of *Olympic Steamship*. "Coverage disputes include both cases in which the issue of coverage is disputed and cases in which the 'extent of the benefit provided by an insurance contract' is at issue. *Leingang v. Pierce County Med. Bureau, Inc.*, 131 Wash. 2d 133, 147, 930 P. 2d 288 (1997) *quoting McGreey v. Oregon Mutual Insurance Company*, 128 Wash. 2d 26, 33, 904 P. 2d 731 (1995.) In this case, it remains undisputed to this day that Integon accepted full

coverage, defended without any reservation of rights and paid its policy limits before suit was filed in this case.

This Court's ruling in *Matsyuk v. State Farm Fire & Cas.*Co., 173 Wash. 2d 643, 659-60, 272 P. 3d 802 (2012) further illustrates this point when this court held:

"An insured cannot claim attorney fees where the dispute is over the extent of the insured's damages or factual questions of liability." *Id.* at 658, citing *Godfrey v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co.*, 142 Wash. 2d 885,889, 16 P. 3d 617 (2001). The *Godfrey* Court recognized that a dispute over the amount of coverage does not allow for an award of attorney fees under *Olympic Steamship. Id.* at 899.

The Div I decision in this case conflicts with the Div. II decision in *Colorado Structures, Inc. v. Insurance Co. of the West*: The Div. II court stated:

Generally, when an insured must bring suit against its own insurer to obtain a legal determination interpreting the meaning or application of an insurance policy, it is a *coverage dispute*. This case *would be* in the nature of a claims dispute if West had agreed to pay under the bond, but had a factual dispute with Structures as to the amount of the payment.

161 Wn.2d 577, 606, 167 P.3d 1125

(2007) (first and second emphasis added) (citing *Dayton v. Farmers Ins. Grp.*, 124 Wn.2d 277, 280, 876 P.2d 896 (1994)).

The court in *Colorado Structures* then quoted Judge Morgan's opinion in the case, which observed, "'*Olympic Steamship* applies when an insurer or similar obligor contests the meaning of a contract, *but not* when it contests other questions as, for example, its liability in tort or the amount of damages it should pay." *Id.* at 606-07 (quoting *Colo. Structures, Inc. v. Ins. Co. of the W.*, 125 Wn. App. 907, 928, 106 P.3d 815 (2005)).

This court should accept review to correct the Court of Appeals' decision, which conflict with this court's numerous prior decisions.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the above arguments and authorities, National General and Integon respectfully request this Court grant National General and Integon's Petition for Review, reverse the Court of Appeal's decision.

I certify that this memorandum contains 3,228 words, in compliance with the RAP18.17.