FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/14/2022 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1014031 Court of Appeals No. 827880-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANDREW D. HAMBLIN,

Respondent,

v.

NATIONAL GENERAL INSURANCE AND INTEGON,

Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrew J. Kinstler, WSBA No. 12703 Kevin Khong, WSBA No. 46474 Hannah Lasting, WSBA No. 58614 HELSELL FETTERMAN LLP 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4200 Seattle, Washington 98154 (206) 292-1144 Attorneys for Respondent Andrew Hamblin

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

At trial, Hamblin argued that a full \$100,000 limit of liability under Castillo Garcia's policy applied to Hamblin's injury. National claimed a single limit applied both to Hamblin's claim and to the claim made by Sumner. *Hamblin II*, at 5. The resolution of that issue rested in large part on the police report narrative outlining the facts of the accident because National

⁷ The deposit was paid in "partial satisfaction" of the stipulated judgment. CP 1809–1810. The balance of the stipulated judgment remains unsatisfied, and remains on Castillo Garcia's record to this day.

relied on that narrative in its investigation of the facts of the accident. *Hamblin II*, at 5–7.

National ordered a copy of the police report as part of its standard claims investigation and thereafter relied on that report in determining what occurred in the events leading up Castillo Garcia broadsiding Hamblin in the intersection. *Hamblin II*, at 5–7; EXs 5, 9, 12, 13, 14, and 17; RP 553:7–559:25.8 The trial court found that the police report was obtained by National in the regular course of its business as an insurer and qualified as a business record—a finding that National has not challenged. *Hamblin II*, at 6, n.5.

The police report version of events—which National relied upon—described two separate occurrences, or accidents. *Hamblin II*, at 21. Each had a different proximate cause, and two separate limits applied to the Sumner and Hamblin collisions under the Castillo Garcia policy. *Id*.

-

⁸ Therefore, even if the admission of the police report was error, which it was not, any error was harmless as the police report description of the accident was admitted into evidence within National's claim documents.

The controlling case on this issue is *Greengo v. Pub.*Emps. Mut. Ins. Co. In Greengo, the Court detailed its approach to resolving such issues:

Washington follows the cause theory...Under our approach if each accident, collision, or injury has its own proximate cause then each will be deemed a separate "accident" for insurance policy purposes even if the two accidents occurred coincident, or nearly coincident, in time... If, however, the collisions or injuries were all caused by a single, uninterrupted proximate cause, then the multiple collisions or injuries will be deemed a single accident.

135 Wn.2d 799, 813–14, 959 P.2d 657 (1998).

National argued at trial and in the Court of Appeals, as it does in its Petition, that there was one "accident" in this case for insurance purposes because there was one police report. Pet. at 2, 7, 16. Yet Hamblin established at trial that National never considered the "two accidents" coverage issue nor did it advise its insured of the issue. Instead, National steadfastly refused to offer the full policy limits to Hamblin even after National had become convinced that the exposure to its insured far exceeded

the applicable limits. *Hamblin II*, at 7–8; RP 557:22–558:6; 1760:17–1762:11. Rather than offer the full policy limits, National repeatedly subtracted various amounts from the \$100,000 limits in its offers to settle Hamblin's claim, asserting that some reserves or offsets related to Sumner or property damage had to be subtracted. *Id.; see also* TE 25; RP 800:18 – 801:7.

Greengo explains that the threshold issue of whether the mechanics of the accident constitute one or two accidents is a question of fact for the jury to resolve. National's Petition does not question the accuracy of the trial court's instruction to the jury on how to resolve this issue, and the jury is presumed to have correctly followed those instructions. *Spivey v. City of Bellevue*, 187 Wn.2d 716, 738, 389 P.3d 504 (2017); CP 1220.9

Instead, National argues that since one police report covered both the Sumner and Hamblin collisions, National had

-

⁹ Notably, National's Petition does not seek review of the meaning of its policy. Rather, National **only** challenges the admissibility of the police report. National has not preserved any issue on appeal regarding the trial court's instructions to the jury as to the language of the insurance policy.

the right to treat them as one accident, and that the trial court erred by allowing this contested coverage issue to go to the jury. Pet. at 7. *Greengo* specifically discredits such a claim as that case also involved a single police report that covered two accidents. 135 Wn.2d at 815.¹⁰

Hamblin offered the description of the accident in the redacted police report as evidence for the permissible purpose of proving what National knew, when it knew it, and what National did with that information as to the factual issue of whether there were one or two accidents for insurance purposes. *Hamblin II*, at 19–20. At National's request, the trial court provided a limiting instruction to the jury to that effect. *Hamblin II*, at 6–7. The jury is presumed to have correctly followed this instruction. *Spivey*, 187 Wn.2d at 738.

2. The trial court properly admitted the police report.

a) Standard of review

-

¹⁰ Citing events reported in a single police report, the Court stated: "If the events transpired as described in this police report, both Ferulli and Hampshire were separately negligent and each of the two collisions has its own separate proximate cause."

The standard of review for a trial court's ruling on the relevance and admissibility of evidence is abuse of discretion. Peralta v. State, 187 Wn.2d 888, 894, 389 P.3d 596 (2017). Trial judges have "wide discretion in balancing the probative value of evidence against its potential prejudicial impact." Cole v. Harveyland, LLC, 163 Wn. App. 199, 213, 258 P.3d 70 (2011). A trial court abuses that discretion when its ruling is "manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons." Veit v. Burlington N. Santa Fe Corp., 171 Wn.2d 88, 99, 249 P.3d 607 (2011) (internal citations omitted.). However, "[e]videntiary error is grounds for reversal only if it results in prejudice." City of Seattle v. Pearson, 192 Wn. App. 802, 817, 369 P.3d 194 (2016).

b) Police reports are not excluded from evidence under RCW 46.52.080.

National incorrectly argues that RCW 46.52.080 required exclusion of the police report from evidence as a matter of law, regardless of whether National collected the police report in the

ordinary course of business and relied upon the police report in making claims decisions.

National is simply wrong. This Court has previously ruled that while the statute prohibits the use at trial of "accident" reports **created by motorists**, it does not apply to reports created by police officers. As recognized by the Court of Appeals, this point is fatal to National's argument. *Hamblin II*, at 18–19, relying upon Guillen v. Pierce Ctv., 144 Wn.2d 696, 714–15, 31 P.3d 628, 639, opinion modified on denial of reconsideration, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001), and rev'd in part sub nom. Pierce Cty., Wash. v. Guillen, 537 U.S. 129, 123 S. Ct. 720, 154 L. Ed. 2d 610 (2003) ("We have held that the phrase 'accident reports and supplemental reports' in RCW 46.52.080 refers to reports prepared ... by persons involved in the accidents, not to official 'police officer's reports' or 'investigator's reports'")(internal citations omitted); see also Gendler v. Batiste, 174 Wn.2d 244, 253, 274 P.3d 346, 350 (2012) (upholding *Guillen's* distinction between motorist reports and reports submitted by law enforcement officers).

National argues that these cases only address the discoverability of police reports, not their admissibility. Pet. at 12–13. National's argument ignores the distinction made in those cases between a motorist's "accident report" and a "police report." *Guillen* and *Gendler* both **hold** that the evidentiary prohibition of RCW 46.52.080 applies only to accident reports prepared by motorists under RCW 46.52.030 and does not apply to reports prepared by police officers under RCW 46.52.070.

c) The trial court properly overruled National's hearsay objection to the police report.

National next argues that the police report should have been excluded as hearsay. This issue is resolved by a basic evidence rule analysis. The police report was not admitted for the "truth of the matter asserted;" therefore, it was not hearsay. ER 801(c). In *Rice v. Offshore Systems, Inc.*, 167 Wn. App. 77, 86, 272 P.3d 865 (2012) the court held that police and fire reports can be admitted into evidence where those reports are offered,

not for the truth of the contents, but for how the reports were used by a party opponent in making a decision. 167 Wn. App. at 86. National attempts to distinguish *Rice* by arguing that *Rice* did not involve a motor vehicle accident. Pet. at 13-14. But *Rice* holds that when a party uses fire or police reports to guide the party's actions, those reports are then admissible if the report is offered for its effect on the actor's conduct, rather than for the truth of the matters asserted in the report. As stated in *Rice*:

The reports were not offered to show Rice was drunk and disorderly. They were offered to show Davis's motivation for the decision to terminate Rice's employment. See ER 803(a)(3) (an exception to the hearsay rule is a statement of the declarant's existing state of mind, such then motive); Domingo v. Boeing Employees' Credit Union, 124 Wash.App. 71, 79, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004) ("Walsh's testimony was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Rather, it was offered to show Walsh's motivation for the decision to reprimand terminate Domingo's and eventually employment.").

Rice, 167 Wn. App. at 86–87.

National relied upon the description in the police report as an accurate description of what happened in the collisions

between Castillo Garcia, Sumner, and Hamblin. *Hamblin II*, at 7. Hamblin argued at trial that National improperly defaulted to the "one accident" analysis to save itself money by limiting the coverage available to its insured. This disputed issue of fact was submitted to the jury, and National has not assigned error to the instruction on this issue in this appeal. *Hamblin II*, at 19–20.

National incorrectly argues that admission of the police reports raises a matter of substantial public interest. Pet. at 14. *Guillen* and *Gendler* conclusively establish that RCW 46.52.080 does not bar police reports from being used in a civil trial. *Rice* demonstrates that courts appreciate that the while such reports may not be admissible when offered for the truth of the statements contained, they can be admitted to prove how the report was used by a party opponent, if relevant to an issue in the case. 167 Wn. App. at 87. There is nothing controversial, novel, or noteworthy in the trial court's ruling on this issue. This Court should deny review.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the Trial Court Ruling Awarding Attorney Fees and Costs to Hamblin.

National agrees that in a coverage dispute, attorney fees and costs are recoverable under *Olympic Steamship Co., Inc. v. Centennial Ins. Co.,* 117 Wn.2d 37, 53, 811 P.2d 673 (1991). Pet. at 16–17. In this case, the coverage dispute at trial focused on whether there was a full policy limit applicable to Castillo Garcia's liability to Hamblin, or—as National claimed—whether one limit applied such that payments to the other victim could be deducted from the "combined single limit." The entire discussion above regarding the admission of the police report and the testimony on that issue demonstrates that there was a fiercely fought coverage issue in the trial court on which Hamblin prevailed. This fact alone completely rebuffs this portion of National's Petition.

National' Petition does not quarrel with the amount of fees and costs awarded, nor does it claim that some alternative allocation of fees should have been made. Rather, National argues that no fees or costs should have been awarded at all. National loses on that issue for the simple reason that there *were* coverage issues at trial, which Hamblin prevailed on. The Court of Appeals correctly upheld the trial court findings that Hamblin prevailed on coverage claims against National. There is no conflict with any prior case law precedent on this issue. *Hamblin II*, at 26–27.¹¹

In addition, the jury concluded that National breached its duties to its insured. The trial court instructed the jury on the minimum standards of insurer conduct. CP 1210. The jury found that National violated these minimum standards, which deprived the insured of the "full benefit of his insurance contract . ." *Olympic Steamship*, 117 Wn.2d at 53. Denied the full benefit of his insurance, Castillo Garcia acted to protect himself and assigned his claims against the insurer to Hamblin. That assignment included the insured's right to recover attorney fees and costs under *Olympic Steamship*.

-

¹¹ National argues without citation in the record that it "paid its policy limits before suit was filed in this case." Pet. at 17–18. In making that statement, National ignores the fact that it deposited less than the full limits into the Superior Court. The Court of Appeals properly recognized that there were questions of fact at trial as to whether National properly analyzed these coverage issues, that the trial court properly submitted these issues to the jury, and that the jury found for the insured. *Hamblin II*, at 26–27.

National correctly notes that in UIM cases Washington courts do not award attorney fees where the *only* dispute is as to the value of the claim. However, this is not a UIM case. Instead, the dispute was not as to the value of Hamblin's claim, but rather the damages caused by the insurer's failure to provide a full policy limit of coverage to its insured and its failure to comply with the minimum standards of conduct imposed on the insurer by the policy and by Washington law.

Here, the insured was required to hire counsel at his own expense and had to submit to a covenant judgment, which resulted in the present action against National to obtain relief from that judgment. The insured had "to assume the burden of a legal action, to obtain the full benefit of his insurance contract, regardless of whether the insurer's duty to defend is at issue." *Olympic Steamship*, 117 Wn.2d at 53.

Hamblin, standing in the shoes of the insured, litigated the claim against the insurer and the jury found that National breached

the insurance contract and failed to meet the minimum standards of conduct applicable to insurers. Pet., App. B.

Hamblin was therefore entitled to fees and costs under Olympic Steamship due to National's breach of its duties to its insured. *Id.* As stated by this Court, Olympic Steamship fees are recoverable when the insured is forced to file a suit for damages to obtain the benefit of the insurance contract:

Whether the insured must defend a suit filed by third parties, appear in a declaratory action, or as in this case, file a suit for damages to obtain the benefit of its insurance contract is irrelevant. In every case, the conduct of the insurer imposes upon the insured the cost of compelling the insurer to honor its commitment and, this, is equally burdensome to the insured.

17 Wn.2d at 53. In an action for *damages* against an insurer—as distinct from a valuation dispute—the insured (or assignee) is entitled an award of attorney fees and costs.

The cases National relies upon are otherwise inapposite.

Leingang v. Pierce County Medical Bureau, 131 Wn.2d 133, 930

P.2d 288 (1997) and McGreevy v. Oregon Mut. Ins. Co., 128 Wn.2d

26, 904 P.2d 731 (1995) both dealt with applying *Olympic Steamship* to coverage issues. Those cases do not limit such a recovery in cases where the insured pursues a damage claim against the insurer.¹²

In addition, *Colorado Structures, Inc. v. Insurance Co. of the West*, 161 Wn.2d 577, 167 P.3d 1125 (2007) dealt with the application of *Olympic Steamship* to construction performance bonds. While the Justices were divided on the performance bond issue, they overwhelmingly recognized that the insured is entitled to recover attorney fees against an insurer who violates the terms of the policy and fails to adhere to the minimum standards of conduct based on the court's equitable power. *Colorado Structures, Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d at 607, 620–21, 627.

There is no conflict between the decision of the Court of Appeals and any prior precedent which would justify review by this Court. Hamblin was entitled to recover his fees and costs, and the

¹² "All that is necessary to recovery attorney fees under [*Olympic Steamship*] is that the insurer compels the insured to assume the burden of legal action to obtain the full benefit of the insurance contract." *Leingang*, 131 Wn.2d at 148–49, *citing McGreevy*, 128 Wn.2d at 32.

Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court award of attorney fees and costs.

V. **CONCLUSION**

National's Petition fails to raise any issue of the nature set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Respondent Hamblin requests that this Court deny the Petition.